











BENEDICTION

Rev. Dr. Louis G. Pecek
Assistant Academic Vice President

ALMA MATER
Led by the University Chapel Schola

Hail to Carroll, gather near her.

Let your joyful anthem ring;

Sound your Mother's praise, revere her.
Her fair name full proudly sing.

Loyal ever, hrave and true,

Daughters. sons of Carroll U,

Pledge our love to Alma Mater,

To the Gold and Blue;

Pledge our love to Alma Mater,
To the Gold and Blue,

RECESSIONAL

Immediately following the exercises, all are welcome to refreshments
in the tents on Millor and Sutowski lawns and Keller Commons.

Millor Tent. All Humanities and Social Sciences, including the following majors/programs:

Art History German Political Science
Classical Languages History Religious Studies
Communications Humanities Socialogy
English Philosophy Spanish
French

Sutowski Tent. All Business, including the following majors/programs:
Accounting Finance Master of Business
Business Logistics Management Administration
Economics Marketing

Keller Commons Tent, All Sciences and Education, including the following majors/programs:
Biology Education (all programs) ~ Physics
Chemistry Engineering Physics Psychology
Computer Science Mathematics Teaching Mathematics

Counseling & Human Services Physical Education

Music by Cleveland Lyric Brass
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Biographies of the Commencement Speakers and
Honorary Degree Recipients

CHARLES F. DOLAN, class of 1952, is the founder and chairman of Cablevision Systems Corporation, one of the
leading telecommunications companies in the nation. Over the past two decades, he was a primary force in building
Cablevision into a multi-faceted business which today serves more than 2.7-million cable television customers in nineteen
states, and provides a host of specialized television programming and telecommunications services. The son of an inventor,
Mr. Dolan’s earliest professional activities focused on the packaging, marketing and distribution of sports and industrial
films. Working together with his wife, HELEN, at their kitchen table in Cleveland Heights, the Dolans edited and pro-
duced short film reels of sports events for syndication to television stations. After selling their business, the Dolans moved to
New York, the center of the developing electronic media. In 1961, Mr. Dolan founded the nation’s first urban cable televi-
sion system in New York City and, in the mid-60s, was the first person to forge agreements to bring local professional sports
teams — the Knicks and Rangers — to cable television. In the early 1970s, he founded Home Box Office, the first premium
programming service in the cable television industry, later launching the first 24-hour regional news service in the nation
(NEWS 12), and introducing an array of critically acclaimed national programming networks, including American Movie
Classics and Bravo. Cablevision was also the first cable operator to establish a local telephone subsidiary, Cablevision
Lightpath, Inc. His company continues to be a leader in the telecommunications industry, exploring the next generation of
programming and services, including the fusion of cable networks and computers to provide on-line access to the Internet,
local telephone service, as well as interactive applications. Together with ITT Corporation, Cablevision owns and operates
the Madison Square Garden Properties, which includes the arena complex, the NBA New York Knicks, the NHL Rangers,
and the MSG Network, The Dolans live on Long Island and have six children. Both Mr. and Mrs. Dolan are members of
the board of St. Francis Hospital. In addition, they do much civic and charitable work through the Dolan Family
Foundation. Mrs, Dolan is also a former director of the Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory. She is an artist, specializing in oil
painting, plays the piano and cello, and is a very active homemaker and mother. Mr. Dolan is an advisory director of the
Metropolitan Opera Association in New York, a trustee of Fairfield University (Connecticut), and serves on the board of
directors of the Madison Square Garden Corporation. He is an avid sailor, pilot, reader and tennis player. Mr. and Mrs.
Dolan have been long-time supporters of John Carroll University and Jesuit education. They are members of [CU’s
President’s Forum, and have donated generously to ensure the university’s continued quality and progress.

JOHN M. BOLER, class of 1956, and his wife. MARY JO, are among John Carroll University’s most generous
benefactors and enthusiastic promoters. Earlier this year, the Bolers committed $10 million as a challenge gift to
encourage alumni and friends to reach greater levels of generosity in support of the university’s mission of Jesuit educa-
tion. In gratitude. the university has named the Boler School of Business for them. Mr. Boler, a leading chief executive. is
chairman of The Boler (,ornpanv a multinational private business that is among America’s largest, with annual sales of
$500 million. With headquarters in Itasca, Illinois, The Boler Company manufactures suspensions, springs and stampings
for the heavy-duty truck market. It employs 2.000 workers in 18 manufacturing and distribution locations in the
U.S..Canada, Mexico, Brazil, England, Australia and Japan. Mr. Boler was born and grew up in Marion, Ohio. After grad-
uating from Marion Catholic High School, he attended John Carroll University and earned a bachelor's degree in busi-
ness administration. He was commissioned a second lieutenant and served in the U.S. Army and Army Reserves. From
1957 until he founded his own company in 1977, Mr. Boler held executive positions in administration and operations
with the Clevite Corporation in Sandusky and Cleveland and with the Gould Corporation in Chicago. Mrs. Boler, a
native of Cleveland, graduated from St. Vincent Charity Hospital School of Nursing with an R.N. degree. She has been
an active volunteer for hospital and mental health causes and with the American Red Cross. The Bolers are deeply
involved with and supportive of church and civic activities in Chicago and Sanibel Island, Florida, where they have a win-
ter residence. Among organizations that have benefited from their generous participation are the Chicago Catholic
Archdiocese, United Way Services of Chicago, the American Red Cross. St. Viator's and Marion Catholic high schools,
and St. Isabel’s Church and the Pirate Playhouse, both on Sanibel. In 1983, Mr, Boler joined the JCU Board of Trustees.
Two years prior, at his class’s 25th reunion, he led a Class Gift drive that raised $200,000 to memorialize Millor Hall for
the legendary Father William J. (Duke) Millor, S.J. More recently, Mr. and Mrs. Boler’s contributions of $1.5 million led
to the naming of the D.J. Lombardo Student Center in memory of Mrs. Boler’s father. Their beneficence continued dur-
ing the 1995-96 academic year with the “Boler Blank Check Challenge” which matched new and increased support from
alumni and friends. In March, 1996, they announced a new $10-million challenge program to help the university prepare
for its next century of service as a Catholic and Jesuit institution.
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THE REV. ROBERT J. WELSH, S.J.. attended Saint Ignatius High School in Cleveland, and entered the Society of
Jesus the same year he graduated (1954). He received his bachelor’s degree in Latin and master's degrees in history and the-
ology from Loyola University. Chicago. He was ordained in 1967 and spent the following year in studies and apostolic work
in Albuquerque. New Mesico. He also received licentiates in philosophy and theology. From 1961 to 1964, Father Welsh
taught Latin, history and speech at the University of Detroit High School. He joined the faculty of Saint Ignatius High
School in 1968, where he was a theology instructor and member of the counseling department. He chaired the theology
department at St. Ignatius, from 1970 to 1972, In 1973, Father became director of religious formation at St. Ignatius,
responsible for all religious programs as a member of the administrative team with the president and the principal. 1t was
during this time that his idea for a sophomore service program was implemented. The program, which requires students to
perform community service for a semester, still exists today. In 1975, he took over as director of development for the Jesuit
high school, responsible for a $75-million capital drive as well as the institution’s annual support. He worked in that capacity
until being named president of the high school in 1979, Throughout his association with Jesuit education, Father Welsh has
been driven by his mission to form young men who come to know, love and serve Jesus Christ. During his tenure as presi-
dent of St. Ignatius High School, Father Welsh advocated remaining at the school'’s inner-city location and supported the
move to establish the Arrupe Neighborhood Partnership Program which was initiated by the board of regents in 1992.
Bearing the name of Father Pedro Armupe, S.]., a former superior general of the Society of Jesus, the Arrupe program gives
practical life to Father Arrupe’s inspiring emphasis on the union of religious belief and social justice. Father Welsh has been
mstrumental in major fundraising efforts supporting planned giving, endowment, renovation of existing facilities, and the
addition of new buildings to the St. Ignatius High School campus. His dedication to Jesuit education and his vision for the
21st century have inspired others to become a part of the school’s drive for fiscal security and stability. During the first two
phases (1990 - 1995) of the current Landmark Campaign, generous benefactors have provided $18 million. A $5-million
goal remains for the final phase slated for completion this year. Father Welsh currently serves on the board of regents for St.
Ignatius High School, as well as the boards of trustees for John Carroll University, Bovs Town of Ohio, Boys Hope,
Beanmont School, and the Jesuit Retreat House. He is also a member of the Cleveland Civie Vision Committee. A graduate
of the Leadership Cleveland class of 1991, Father Welsh has served on the admissions committee at John Carroll, the board
of trustees of Boy Scouts of America and the Ohio City Redevelopment Associaton board. He received an honorary Doctor
of Humane Letters from The College of the Holy Cross in 1995.

LEON-JOSEPH CARDINAL SUENENS was the son of a brewer who died when he was four. He studied at the
Pontifical Gregorian University in Rome where he eamed simultaneous doctorates in philosophy and theology. and a mas-
ter's degree in Church law. Suenens returned to Louvain, Belgium, and became the rector of the seminary there during
World War I1. Under the German occupation, he was in constant trouble. One biographer wrote, “He cm.unwented, when
he did not openly defy. many directives of the German authorities regarding the administration of the university.” Finally,
he was sentenced to be executed, and was saved only by the timely liberation of Belgium, He tanght philosophy at the semi-
nary of Mechelen and was vice-rector of the Catholic University of Louvain. He was appointed an auxiliary bishop, bishop
and then archbishop of Mechelen/Brussels and primate of Belgtum. Pope John XX named him a cardinal in 1962, and
delegated him as special emissary to the United Nations to present the encyelical Pacem in Terris to the General Assembly.
The cardinal received many honors, including a number of honorary degrees. In 1976 he was awarded the Templeton Prize
for Progress of Religion and, in 1991, the Grand Prix de la F rancnphnm(- by the Academie Frangaise. He lived in Brussels
and, active in his retirament, authored a trilogy of memoirs in the past four years. When Pope John XXHI convened the
Vatican Council in 1962, he hoped this gathering would chart a course for the Church in the modern world. Shortly before
Vatican 11 began, but months after it was announced, Pope John asked Cardinal Suenens, “Who is making an overall plan
for the council?” Suenens replied by saying no one had been designated to do so. Historians report that the pope replied, in
French, "What a mess!” And then the pontiff asked the cardinal, “Would you please frame an agenda?” His agenda included
the idea of a permanent diaconate, a proposal for a mandatory age limit for bishops and cardinals, and encouragement of
involvement of the laity in the mission of the Church. His request was for a triple dialogue “with the faithful; with our sepa-
rated people; with the non-Christian world.” No other cardinal encouraged ecumenical relationships as had Cardinal
Suenens. He and Archbishop Ramsey of Canterbury co-authored two books. The cardinal also addressed the assembled
bishops of the American Episcopal Church and built bridges with the Pentecostal churches. At the end of May, JCU will
host a symposium in memory of Cardinal Suenens, who died on May 6, 1996 at the age of 91. The symposium, titled

“Retrieving Charisms for the 21st Century,” is being designed to plan for the Church of the nest century in the spirit of the
cardinal. A host of distinguished guests will explore the gifts, or charisms, that already exist but need to be identified and
nurtured for the Church and the world as we enter the next millennium,
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THE UNIVERSITY MACE

When universities and parliaments about the world gather together in solemn
assembly, the way is often led by a mace bearer carrying an oramental short staff that s
the symbol of the authority of the gathering body. The symbol's early predecessor was the
Roman fasces, a bundle of rods bound together and carried in front of magistrates: crowds
in the streets seeing the fasces would give way to the magistrate’s authority. The medieval
mace was originally a blunt weapon favored by clergy who were forbidden to use the
sword. It also evolved into a symbol of authority; crowds quickly made way for anyone
arrying such a symbol.

The design at the top of the University Mace derives from the coats of arms on the
university seal, emblems of Ignatius Loyola, founder of the Jesuits. Surmounted by a cross,
two bronze wolves on either side of a brass cauldron stand for the Loyolas. The Onaz clan,
his maternal side, is signified by fourteen alternating red and gold bands of enamelled
copper, set at an angle around the head of the mace. Beneath is the inscription in
Latin: John Carroll University 1886. From the cross at the top to the horn button at the
base the mace is 46 inches tall; it weighs 100 ounces. The main shaft of the mace is ebony
in the form of a fasces of fourteen rods, with a slight tapering at either end. The bindings
of the rods, and the head and base of the mace are all silver. A node on the base is
engraved with the episcopal seal of Archbishop John Carroll. the first bishop of the United
States and the eponym of the university. It depicts the Blessed Virgin with scepter and
crown holding the Christ Child; thirteen stars for the thirteen states are around them, the
crossed keys of St. Peter beneath, and the inscription in Latin: John, Bishop of Baltimore
1790. Inside the base is a copy of the Articles of Incorporation of the University, its charter.
granted by the State of Ohio in 1890 in time to authorize the university’ first degrees,

The University mace was crafted for John Carroll by the late Solve Halqvist, a well
known local silversmith, as his last commission: it was tles:trned by Fr. Peter Fennessy, S.].,
university marshal, and Dr. Roger Welchans, retired professor of Art History. The
Unlwrs:t) Mace is a glit of the Executive Board of the John Carroll Alumni Assoc fation: it
is given in memory of Fr. Michael |. Lavelle, S.].. twenty-first pres:dent of the university
(1934-1995). It is used for the first time in these commencement exercises.
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THE TRADITION OF THE ACADEMIC COSTUME

One of the more striking aspects of academic ceremonies is the colorful dress of the 1):111](.1])&1]1:5
An understanding of the traditions determining stvle and color of costumes can enrich one’s atten-
dance at such events.

The distinctive academic dress has its origin in the universities of the middle ages where cold
buildings and tonsured heads made warm gowns and protective hoods a matter of necessity. Individual
institutions such as Cambridge and Oxford adopted special rules governing the kind of dress that was
to be permitted, and the custom was repeated throughout Europe. It is for this reason that some of the
most eye-catching gowns are those mandated by European schools.

In America, practice has been somewhat less venturesome. Although the custom of wearing
distinctive attire had existed since the time of the colonial colleges, present usage seems to date from
a conference held at Columbia in 1895. From that meeting came a resolution calling for the

regulation by code of what was generally to be worn at academic events. That code, revised in 1932
and again in 1960, makes recommendations as to the pattern, material, color and trimmings to be used
on academic gowns.

The bachelor’s gown, with long pointed sleeves, is worn closed. The master’s gowns, which can be
worn open, have a distinct oblong sleeve with an arc cut in the front. Doctors wear the bell shaped
sleeved robes which are marked with velvet facing in front and velvet bars on the sleeve. Although
these gowns are all ordinarily black, in recent years there have been exceptions made in color.

Hoods for the various degrees differ in length. Bachelors wear three foot hoods: Masters, three
and a half: and Doctors, four feet. They are bound by velvet or velveteen in colors which designate the
wearer’s area of specialization, and tlu,) are lined with the colors of the institution granting the degree.
At John Carroll, the lining is blue and gold. Many institutions, however, have dispensed entirely with
the bachelors” hoods.

The colors associated with the more common academic disciplines are: white for Arts and Letters;
drab for Business; light blue for Education; purple for Law; dark blue for Philosophy: golden yellow
for Science; and scarlet for Theology.

The cap traditionally worn is the black mortar board, although the tam and the Elizabethan will

be seen on some of the faculty. The tassel is most often black, Doctors frequently wear gold, and
lawyers wear purple.
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